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Hellyer

Ukalunda

Square Post

The Sunbeam mining lease (“Sunbeam”) allows the Company to conduct larger-scale mining operations starting with the

processing of approximately 48,000 tonnes of surface mineral stockpiles at Sunbeam. The Company undertook a comprehensive

program of rock chip sampling, mapping of the ore stockpiles, mineralogy and metallurgy. The work has indicated the ore

stockpiles contain minerals including gold, silver, copper, lead, zinc and antimony which all may have commercial value.  

The Square Post tenement lies close to the Flinder Highway, 10 kilometres east of Mingela and 50 kilometres south of

Townsville. The area is considered underexplored, principally due to its rugged terrain. The permit consists of 47 sub-blocks

covering an area of approximately 168km2. The Company has received prospective rock chip samples from the Square Post

tenement, with further exploration work continuing through 2019 and 2020.  

Environmental

The Company is determined and committed to making a positive impact in the communities we operate in. The Company

continues to operate at the highest standards as it relates to Environmental, Community, Sustainability and Human Resource

policies and procedures.  

With the announcement in 2017 of our approval for an Environmental Management Plan at Hellyer followed by the successful

receipt of our Mining Lease for Sunbeam, the Company is now positioned to further realise commercial value for its mineral

assets. The success of our permitting is a critical success factor, and Management and the Board have met expectations for

world class standards.

NQ MINERALS PLC

Hellyer represents the flagship project for the Company. With life of mine revenues projected to exceed £560M and an expected

10 year mine life, 2018 was a transformational year as we changed status from a developer to a producer. The capital

expenditure incurred during 2018 was £11,939,000, allowing us to complete the refurbishment process and realise sales in late

2018.  

The Ukalunda tenement lies midway between the Lake Dalrymple/Burdekin Dam and the historic Wirralie gold mine, which

previously produced 1.1 million ounces of gold. The Ukalunda project area contains multiple shows of mineralisation of similar

characteristics to major deposits in the region. Historic, wide-ranging exploration has been carried out on the Ukalunda permit

area, having discovered potential area of rich mineralisation of gold, silver and a number of associated base metals. In April

2018, the Company announced further to the receipt of the required Queensland Environmental Authority, it has now been

granted a Mining Lease for its wholly-owned Sunbeam Silver Mine (“Sunbeam”).  

NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Undoubtedly 2018 has been a transformational year for the Company. Following the acquisition in 2017 of all the issued and

outstanding shares in Keen Pacific Limited, along with its wholly-owned subsidiaries Ivy Resources Pty Ltd and Hellyer Gold

Mines Pty Ltd (“Hellyer”), the Company embarked on an aggressive schedule to refurbish the processing plant at Hellyer. The

refurbishment commenced in February 2018, and our dedicated and experienced team of professionals completed the

refurbishment on time and on budget, allowing the Company to commence flotation in September 2018.  

In November 2018, the Company announced it had successfully produced its first lead, gold and silver concentrate lot and

delivered it to Traxys Europe SA under a standing offtake agreement signed in August 2018. Subsequent to year end, we

announced commercial production at Hellyer, and realised our objective of becoming an emerging producer in Australia.  

NQ is focused on three main projects being Hellyer in Tasmania which now offers significant ongoing cash flow, and its two

exploration projects, Ukalunda and Square Post, in North Queensland, Australia. These two exploration projects are both located

in highly prospective mining districts that form part of the well-known and prolific Charters Towers Gold Province, where more

than 20 million ounces of gold has been mined.  

Projects

The Company will continue to process the tailings which are within four separate areas representing 11.24mt, and which

comprise a JORC compliant resource estimated at 9.5mt hosting 2.61 grams per tonne gold, 104 grams per tonne silver, 3.03%

lead and 2.5% zinc for 796,000 ounces of gold, 32 million ounces of silver, 287,800 tonnes of lead and 237,900 tonnes of zinc.  

With ongoing cash flow before financing costs from Hellyer, the Company expects utilise cashflows to service debt obligations, to

meet its minimum expenditure requirements under is exploration licenses and if cash flows allow, will allocate additional

resources to its exploration prospects through 2019/202 with a view to defining the potential in Tasmania as well as North

Queensland.
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• 

• 

Mr Brian Stockbridge

Director

Dated: 30 May 2019

The Executive team and Senior Management have performed exceptionally well during a challenging refurbishment and start up,

and should be commended for bringing Hellyer to commercial production in 2018. The current environment poses ongoing

challenges with respect to fundraising for junior mining companies, however I am optimistic about the Company’s prospects going

forward, and look forward to achieving our long term goals. We wish to thank all of our shareholders for their continued support.

On behalf of the board

NQ MINERALS PLC

NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Outlook

2018 has been a transformational and exciting year for the Company, having realized our short term objective of becoming a

producer. With the refurbishment of the processing plant in 2018 and subsequent commercialization of the mineral assets,

Hellyer is generating operational cash flow before financing costs. The Board believes Hellyer is a world-class project which

compliments our exploration assets in North Queensland. The exciting portfolio of assets and a view to acquiring additional

assets in the region will allow us to achieve our long term goal of becoming a significant gold and base metal producer in

Australia.   

Financing

A summary of the Group financing position includes: 

A net debt position as at 31 December 2018 of £38,997,000.

A net debt position as at the date of this report of £41,692,000.

There is a requirement for the Group to refinance its current debt obligations to be able to meet its near-term financing payments

and ensure compliance of convenient obligations. The Company has secured additional funding via its bond offering

memorandum to fund ongoing working capital requirements and since 1 January 2019, the Company has raised £5,526,140. The

Directors anticipate being able to continue to raise funds under this bond at a similar level going forward. The Directors are also

in advanced discussions with an existing lender and has entered into non-binding heads of terms, to restructure its existing debt

obligations and anticipates finalising those agreements in the first half of 2019. The proposed amendments would refinance the

current repayment and interest rate profiles. Further details are disclosed in Note 2.1.
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• 

• 

• 

Financial risk and management of capital 

NQ MINERALS PLC

STRATEGIC REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

The Directors present their Strategic Report of NQ Minerals Plc (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) for the

year ended 31 December 2018. 

Review of the business 

The trading results for the year ended 31 December 2018, and the Group’s financial position at the end of the year are shown in

the audited financial statements. The profit and loss account for the year shows a loss before tax of £25,601,000. 

The loss is a result of the indirect costs of fundraising post acquisition of Hellyer Gold Mines Pty ("Hellyer") in order to fund the

refurbishment, together with finance costs incurred on indebteness, consultancy and travel costs associated with the refurbishment

project of the Hellyer mill. The Hellyer Gold Mine is our flagship project, and during 2018 an extensive refurbishment was

completed in order to configure the processing plant for full scale operations. We are continuing to extract and treat the large high-

grade tailings deposit and are producing three marketable concentrates (lead, zinc, gold/silver pyrite). In November 2018, the

Company was successful in selling its first concentrate of lead/gold/silver. The Board believes Hellyer is a world-class resource,

and a project which compliments our exploration assets in North Queensland, with the potential for attractive returns on capital

over the long term.  Our long-term goal is to become a significant gold and base metal producer in Australia.

The Directors continue to assess the risks facing the Company and the Group and they believe these are as follows: 

Exploration and mining risk – The business of exploration for minerals involves a high degree of risk. Few properties

that are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. 

Licensing and title risk – Government approvals, licences and permits are, as a practical matter, subject to the

discretion of the applicable governments or government offices. 

Funding risk – the Group is dependent on securing additional funding and there is no certainty that such funds will be

obtained. 

Construction and operational risk – there is significant risk associated with refurbishing and operating the Hellyer

project. 

Expertise in exploration and mining along with previous exploration data helps improve the chances of success. 

Principal risk and uncertainties 

Mitigation 

Management has the financial and operational capability to ascertain and monitor its funding needs, including the use of detailed

budgets and medium and long-term forecasts. Management is well connected, experienced and maintains relationships with

various funding entities. 

Experienced management and consultants are engaged to manage the capital expenditure program and oversee the

commencement of operations. 

Subsequent to the year end, on 15 January 2019, the Group announced commercial production at the Hellyer Gold Mine having

produced 3,991 dry metric tonnes ('dmt") of lead concentrate and 1,537 of zinc concentrate to 31 December 2018.

The Directors consider and review these risks on a strategic and day-to-day basis in order to minimise any potential exposure. 

The only significant assets of the business are its investment in a wholly owned subsidiary NQ Minerals Pty Limited which has

been acquired by way of a share for share exchange in 2015 and its 100% ownership of Keen Pacific. Various other financial

instruments were issued by the Group during the financial year and a description of how the Group manages its capital and

financial risk is disclosed in Note 35. 

The Group, through previous managerial knowledge in the industry, seeks to meet all known and future obligations and

expectations regarding government approvals, licences and permits. 
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Key performance indicators 

2018

2017

% Change 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Post balance sheet events and future developments 

NQ MINERALS PLC

The Directors currently consider the following as key performance indicators: 

Net loss £25,848,000.  Cash and cash equivalents £513,000.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONT.)

Bryan Smart resigned as a director on 23 January 2019 and Adrian Lungan resigned as a director on 28 February 2019.

The Company drew an additional £400,000 from CP Funding Plc.

On 5 March 2018, the Group extended the maturity of the Kiwoz Ltd loan from the 5 March 2019 to the 5 June 2019. There was an

associated rollover fee of 1,367,521 shares. The Company has received, via an intermediary, confirmation that this repayment

date has been further extended by 1 month to 5 July 2019, however no formal documentation has been received to confirm this

from the financiers themselves. Refer to Note 2.1 for further details. 

The Group repaid £2,009,884 on the Traxys Europe S.A funding loan in accordance with the repayment schedule. The repayments

have been offset against outstanding trade receivables at the discretion of Traxys Europe S.A.  

The Group repaid £278,150 on the Apex funding loan. This loan has now been fully repaid.

The Group repaid £35,492 on the Perennial Enterprise Pty Ltd loan.

The Group repaid £458,049 on the CP Funding loan.

Subsequent to the year end, the Company has subscribed for convertible notes in a potential acquiree company located in

Tasmania amounting to £150,000. The convertible note is connected with an option agreement to acquire this company.

Management are currently undertaking due diligence over this prospective project at the date of this report. 

On 19 January 2019, the Company issued 1,290,909 new ordinary shares for £133,090 at a share price of £0.11.

On 12 February 2019, the Company issued 490,909 new ordinary shares for £54,000 at a share price of £0.11.

The Company drew an additional £8,550,458 from Audley Funding Plc, before net transaction costs and reserves held back

amounting to £3,024,318.

Net loss £17,196,000.  Cash and cash equivalents £3,310,000.

Net loss 50% increase. Cash and cash equivalents 85% decrease.

The Group commenced extracting its mineral reserves in late 2018 and prior to this has been in the exploration and evaluation

phase during the period. Net losses increased compared to 2017 due to the costs associated with the financing and planning of

the refurbishment of the Hellyer mine project. The Group raised sufficient funds during the year to fully fund its refurbishment

works allowing the Group to commercialise operations. The Group has raised additional debt and equity post year-end and is now

generating cash flows from mining operations; it is in the process of seeking further funding as detailed in note 2.1.

The Directors have established a set of financial and non-financial key performance indicators ("KPI's") which are linked to their

strategic priorities.  The KPI's established for 2018/19 are as follows:

Achieve internal budgeted production of all three concentrates by attaining projected throughput, grade and recoveries;

Providing a safe working environment for all of our staff and contractors, with a "Zero Harm" initiative;

Design, develop and operate our facilities to minimize their overall environmental impact and take into account their

eventual closure;

Commitment to providing sustainable benefits to our local community working in partnership with governments, local

business and NGO's to support meaningful initiatives.

Incorporation of Pieman Resources Pty Ltd on 5 February 2019, an Australian company which at the date of this report is currently

dormant.
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Brian Stockbridge

Director

Date: 30 May 2019

On behalf of the board

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Subsequent to the year end, the debt cap of the Group has been breached. The directors have advised all of the lenders of this

breach.

NQ MINERALS PLC

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONT.)
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NQ MINERALS PLC

Directors

Adrian Lungan (Resigned on 28 February 2019)

Kevin Puil (Appointed on 17 July 2018)

NQ MINERALS PLC

• Keen Pacific Limited, along with its wholly-owned subsidiaries Ivy Resources Pty Ltd and Hellyer

Gold Mines Pty Ltd ("the Keen Pacific Limited Group"). The Company acquired the Keen Pacific

Limited Group for an estimated fair value consideration of £20.8 million on 17 May 2017, which

includes the issue of 141,671,377 shares in the Company to the vendors. The acquisition resulted in

the Group acquiring the prospective Hellyer Gold Mine in Tasmania, Australia. The 2018 year saw the

refurbishment of the Hellyer Polymetallic Project and the commencement of commercial production in

October 2018; and

DIRECTORS' REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Principal activity

The Company was incorporated on 14 April 2015 and was set up as a holding company for the

following entities: 

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the Group and Company

for the year ended 31 December 2018.

• NQ Minerals Pty Limited (“NQ”), along with its wholly owned subsidiary Circle Resources Pty Ltd, a

company registered and operating in Australia. NQ is an Australian-based exploration and mining

company, focusing on projects where past exploration work has established the presence of mineral

occurrences. The Company’s management team has decades of experience in the exploration and

production of gold, silver and a variety of base metals.

Results and dividends

The results for the year are set out on page 12. There were no dividends proposed or paid in the

financial year.

The following Directors have held office since 1 January 2018:

• state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union; 

Brian Stockbridge

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

Greg Lane

Colin Sutherland

Statement of Directors' responsibilities 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Directors' Report and the Group's financial

statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group financial statements for each financial year.

Under that law the Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted for use in the European Union. Under

Company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that

they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit or loss

of the Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

Bryan Smart (Resigned on 23 January 2019)

Walter Doyle               

Allen Ambrose

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume

that the Group will continue in business.

Roger Jackson

Page 6



NQ MINERALS PLC

Statement of disclosure to auditors

Auditors

Strategic report

Mr Brian Stockbridge

Director

Dated: 30 May 2019

NQ MINERALS PLC

On behalf of the board

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show

and explain the Group's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial

position of the Group and Company to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply

with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group

and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and

other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring the annual report and financial statements are made

available on a website. Financial statements are published on Company’s website in accordance with

legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements,

which may vary from legislation in other jurisdictions. The maintenance and integrity of the Company’s

website is the responsibility of the Directors. The Directors’ responsibility also extends to the ongoing

integrity of the financial statements contained therein. 

HW Fisher & Company were appointed auditors to the Company and in accordance with section 485

of the Companies Act 2006, a resolution proposing that they be re-appointed will be put at a General

Meeting.  

In accordance with section 414C(11) of the Companies Act 2006 the Group chooses to report the

review of the business, the future outlook and the risks and uncertainties faced by the Group in the

Strategic Report on page 3.

• each Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as Director in order to make

himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are

aware of that information.

Each person who is a Director at the date of approval of this Annual Report confirms that:

• So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s

auditors are unaware; and
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lndependent auditors' report to the members of NQ Minerals PLC

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of NQ Minerals Plc (the 'parent company') and its subsidiaries (the 'Group') for the year ended 3'l December
2018 which comprise:

the consolidated Statement of Comprehensive lncome;
the consolidated and parent company Statements of Financial Position;
the consolidated and parent company Statement of Changes in Equity;
the consolidated Statement of cash flows; and
the related notes to the consolidated and parent company financial statements including a summary of significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law and lnternational
Financial Reporting Standards ('lFRSs') as adopted by the European Union. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation
of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS10'1 "Reduced Disclosure
Framework" (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

ln our opinion:
thefinancial statementsgiveatrueandfairviewof thestateof theGroup'sandof theparentcompany'saffairsasat3l December20lSandof the
Group's loss for the year then ended;
the Group flnancial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSS as adopted by the European Union;
the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;
and

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements ofthe Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with lnternational Standards on Auditing (UK) ('lSAs (UK)') and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to SME listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.

We beiieve that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2. 1 in the financial statemenis, which indicates that the Group and Company is dependent on future fundraising, whether by
debt orequity, in orderto meet its debt repayment obligations as they fall due in the next 12 months, these repayments include a debt repayment of
AUS $4m repayable within the next 36 days. As stated in note 2.1 , these events or conditions, along with the other matters as set forth in note 2.1 ,

indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the flnancial statements of the current
period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had
the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:

Going concern;
Management override of controls;
Financing arrangements;
Related party transactions; and
Foreign currency translation.

Our application of materiality

The materiality that we used for the consolidated financial statements was €489,000. We determine materiality using 'l% of gross assets of the Group.

The materiality that we used for the parent company's financial statements was €374,000. We determined the materiality using 1% of gross assets of
the parent company.
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An overview of the scope of our audit

Area of focus How our audit addressed the area of focus

Going concern

The Group is not currenily profit generating and rs
reliant upon debt financing to meet the operating
costs of the Group. The Group has significant debt
repayments to meet in the next 12 months and is
reliant on its ability to raise funds via debt or equity in

order to meet these obligations.

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to the following

We reviewed the financial forecasts of the Group to assess their reasonableness.

We reviewed the post year end activity of the Group, including status of any proposed
fundraising and the ability to raise further funds after the year end.

We reviewed the current financing arrangements and repayment schedules for the nex 12

months, and considered the Group and Company's compliance with any debt covenants. We
reviewed financial covenants for any indication of breaches that may impact the ability of the
Group and Comany to continue as a going concern.

We reviewed the Directors' going concern disclosure in the financial statements to ensure it
reflects the key issues and risks associated with the going concern ofthe Group and
Company.

Based on our audrt work detailed above, we refer you to our material uncertainty paragraph
on page 8.

Management override of controls

Management is in a unique position to override
controls that otherwise appear to be operating
effectively.

ln addition to testing lhe Group's and Company's controls, our management our management
override procedures also included:

We obtained an understanding the overall governance and oversight process surrounding
management's review of the financial statements.

We examined the significant accounting estimates and judgements relevant to the financial
statements for evidence of bias by the directors.

We reviewed the financial statements to determine whether the accounting policies appeared
appropriate and consistently applied.

We reviewed the nominal ledger for significant and unusual transactions and investigated
them, reviewing and confirming the validity of journal entry postings.

We reviewed a sample of the management journals posted during the year to ensure the
nature of ihe transactions was in line with the business activity and expected transactions.
Samples were selected through associated risk word lesting and random selection.

We completed analytical procedures to identify any apparent discrepancies.

Based on our audtt work detailed above, we confirm that we have nothing material to report,
and or draw attention to in respect of these matters.

Financing arrangements

Financing arrangements have a material effect on
both the loss for the year and in respect of the net
deficit position of the consolidated statement of
financral position.

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to the following:

We examined the underlying financing arrangement to assess the associated interest and
transaction costs capitalised against the liabilities.

We performed recalculations of the effective interest rate workings and reviewed key
assumptions associated with effective interest rate calculations.

We reviewed the gold and silver streaming arrangements set out in the Rivi and RCA
agreements respectively to confirm that they were in line with the respective associated
liabilities.

We reviewed the interest paid and the amortised interest to ensure the amount has been
correctly charged into the profit and loss.

We reviewed the mathematical accuracy of management's calculations and assess
appropriateness of discount rates used.

We assessed the fair values of the derivative instruments, by review of the underlying
assumptions and calculations.

Based on our audit work detailed above, we confirm that we have nothing material to report,
and or draw attention to in respect of these matters.
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Related Party transactions

There were a number of related party transactions
during the period which leads to a risk of omission of
disclosures.

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to the following:

We obtained information from each of the directors and those considered to be key
management personnel, which outlined each of their associated related parties.

We reviewed the nominal ledgerfortransactions between the Group and those known related
parties.

We examined the related party disclosure notes contained within the financial statements.

We reviewed a selection of the expenditure items whereby invoices were lacking in further
detail; we considered whether there were any links to the directors and key management
personnel.

Based on our audit work detailed above, we confirm that we have nothing material to report,
and or draw attention to in respect of these matters.

Recognition and measurement of foreign exchange
gains/losses

Due to the size of some of the transactions in the
year and differences in the underlying currency and
presentation currency, a small change in the
exchange rate used in translation could lead to a
material misstatement of the balance in the financial
statements.

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to the following:

We reviewed the foreign exchange rates used and compared the exchange rate to an
independent source.

We reviewed the translation of all material foreign currency items and ensured the treatment
is in line with accounting policies and IFRS.

Based on our audit work detailed above, we confirm that we have nothing material to report,
and or draw attention to in respect of these matters.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other informatron comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the
financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otheMise explicitly stated in our report, we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

ln connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consrder whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
missiated.

lf we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement
in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. lf, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

ln our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

the information given in the strategic report and the directors' report for the flnancial year for which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with lhe financial statements; and

the strategic report and the directors'report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

ln the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the parent company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have
not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors' report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our oplnion:

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us; or

the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Directors' responsibilities statement, included within the directors' report on page 6, the Directors are responsible forthe
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements thai are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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ln preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the parent company's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend

to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit ol the financial statements

Our objeclives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with lSAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on ihe basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website at:
http://www.frc.org.uUauditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Use of our audit report

This report is made solely to the parent company's members, as a body, in accordance with chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the parent company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the parent
company and the parent company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Gary Miller (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of H W Fisher & Company
Chartered Accountants
Statutory Auditor
Acre House
1'll15 William Road
London

United Kingdom

Date: 30 May 2019
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2018 2017

Note

Revenue from contracts with customers 6

Cost of sales

7

8

11

12 153         

   (25,848)    (17,196)

Loss per share (pence) (basic and diluted) 13 (8.25p) (7.34p)

All comprehensive income is attributable to continuing operations.

(5,214)                       -                            

Other income 135                           

Selling and distribution expenses (381)                          

-                            

-                            

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the 

owners of the Parent

The accompanying notes on pages 18 to 55 form part of these financial statements.

Other comprehensive income

Foreign exchange losses (103)                          (400)                          

£’000s £’000s

3,247                        -                            

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

Loss for the year (25,448)                     (17,093)                     

(25,601)                     (17,186)                     

Taxation 93                             

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation

Operating loss (13,409)                     (13,453)                     

Finance income

Gross loss (1,967)                       -                            

136                           

Administrative expenses (13,453)                     

Finance costs

(11,196)                     

(12,223)                     

31                             

(3,869)                       
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Note

15

16

17

18

19

20

16

21

22

29

30

24

25

26

27

24

28

The accompanying notes on pages 18 to 55 form part of these financial statements.

Approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 30 May 2019.

Colin Sutherland

Director

Company Registration No. 09540926

Total equity and liabilities 47,824                      38,832                      

Financial liabilities 11,934                      2,330                        

Convertible notes 1,457                        1,219                        

19,729                      6,848                        

Total liabilities 66,712                      35,837                      

Total current liabilities

(18,888)                     2,995                        

46,983                      28,989                      

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 6,338                        3,299                        

Total non-current liabilities

Deferred tax assets

19,344                      

19,492                      

Financial liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Provision for rehabilitation 4,100                        4,298                        

Translation reserve (412)                          (12)                            

Non-current liabilities

Merger relief reserve 7,171                        7,171                        

Accumulated losses (45,581)                     (20,133)                     

Total equity attributable to owners of the Parent

7,402                        6,955                        

17,289                      35,928                      

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

£’000s £’000s

As At As At

Financial assets 1,068                        

Assets

Non-current assets

Intangibles 988                           

Inventory 22,359                      

1,112                        

8,204                        Property, plant and equipment

1,218                        

Share option reserve 7,124                        5,391                        

Group reorganisation reserve (6,983)                       (6,983)                       

1,736                        755                           

Unissued capital reserve 3,879                        

Ordinary shares

Other reserve

Equity and liabilities

105                           201                           

5,512                        

11,565                      

322                           283                           

Share premium 15,487                      

Other financial assets -                                

986                           

3,467                        

1,072                        

Inventory -                                

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent

Total non-current assets 42,108                      34,767                      

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 513                           3,310                        

Trade and other receivables

Total current assets 5,716                        4,065                        

Total assets 47,824                      38,832                      

1,032                        
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Note

14

20

21

22

29

30

24

27

24

28

The accompanying notes on pages 18 to 55 form part of these financial statements.

Total equity and liabilities 34,417                      33,080                      

Convertible notes 1,457                        1,219                        

5,707                        8,064                        

Total liabilities 35,074                      19,763                      

Total current liabilities

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the profit and loss account of the Company is not presented as part 

of these financial statements. The Company’s loss for the financial year was £17,938,000 (2017: £15,346,000).

Approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 30 May 2019.

Colin Sutherland

Director

Company Registration No. 09540926

Total current assets

Total non-current liabilities

Ordinary shares 322                           283                           
Share premium 15,487                      11,565                      

Share option reserve 7,124                        5,391                        

Merger relief reserve 7,171                        7,171                        

Unissued capital reserve 3,879                        

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent

6,329                        3,920                        

Total assets 34,417                      33,080                      

Equity and liabilities

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

As At As At

Assets

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

£’000s £’000s

Non-current assets

Investments 28,088                      28,088                      

207                           2,858                        

1,072                        
Total non-current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Current assets

28,088                      29,160                      

Other financial assets -                                

Trade and other receivables 6,122                        1,062                        

5,512                        

Non-current liabilities

Accumulated losses (34,745)                     (16,806)                     
Total equity attributable to owners of the Parent (657)                          13,317                      

Liabilities

Other reserve 105                           201                           

Financial liabilities 567                           -                                

29,367                      11,699                      

29,367                      11,699                      

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 3,683                        6,845                        
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£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s

As at 31 December 

2016 159     2,290      -         231      92        7,171   (6,983)     91        (3,040)   11         

Shares issued or 
issuable in the year 47       3,875      1,633      - - - - - - 5,555    
Consideration paid in 
shares of the 
Company 77       5,546      3,879      - - - - - - 9,502    

Value of conversion 
rights - - - 5,160   109      - -          - 5,269    

Share issue costs - (146)        - - - - - - - (146)      

Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (17,093) (17,093) 

Translation of foreign 
operations - - - - - - - (103)    -        (103)      

As at 31 December 

2017 283     11,565    5,512      5,391   201      7,171   (6,983)     (12)      (20,133) 2,995    

Shares issued or 
issuable in the year 39       3,922      (1,633)    - (208)    - - - - 2,120    

Value of conversion 
rights - - - 1,733   112      - - - 1,845    

Share issue costs - - - - - - - - -        

Loss for the year - - - - - - - (25,448) (25,448) 

Translation of foreign 
operations - - - - - - (400)    -        (400)      

As at 31 December 

2018 322     15,487    3,879      7,124   105      7,171   (6,983)     (412)    (45,581) (18,888) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Option 

reserve

Merger 

relief 

reserve

Group 

reorgani-

sation 

reserve

Transl-

ation 

reserve

Accum- 

ulated 

deficit

Total 

equity

Unissued 

capital 

reserve

Other 

reserve

Group reorganisation and merger relief reserves arise from the 100% acquisition of NQ Minerals Pty Limited (“NQ”) on 25
May 2015 whereby the excess of the fair value of the issued ordinary share capital over the nominal value of these
shares was transferred to these reserves in accordance with section 612 of the Companies Act 2006.

The accompanying notes on pages 18 to 55 form part of these financial statements.

Share capital is the amount subscribed for shares at nominal value and share premium is the excess subscribed above
nominal value. Included within share premium are share issue costs which relate to commissions and other directly
attributable costs.

Accumulated deficit represents the cumulative losses of the Group attributable to equity shareholders.

Translation reserve arises from the translation of transactions and balances relating to the Australian and British Virgin
Island subsidiaries into pounds sterling.

Other reserve includes the value of conversion rights associated with convertible notes amounting to £105,000 (2017:
£201,000). Refer to Note 28 for further details.

Unissued capital reserve includes the contingent share consideration associated with the acquisition of Keen Pacific
Limited and its controlled entities on 18 May 2017. Refer to Note 14 for further details. 

Option reserve includes the value of the share based payments amounting to £1,733,704 (2017: £823,002) in addition to
£nil (2017: £4,336,245) which has been capitalised as transaction costs with financiers. Refer to Note 30 for further
details.
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£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s

As at 31 December 2016 159           2,290        -            231           92             7,171        (1,461)       8,482        

Shares issued or issuable in 

the year 47             3,875        1,633        - - - - 5,555        

Consideration paid in shares of 

the Company 77             5,546        3,879        - - - - 9,502        

Value of conversion rights - - - 5,160        109           - - 5,269        

Share issue costs - (146)          - - - - - (146)          

Loss for the year - - - - - - (15,345)     (15,345)     

As at 31 December 2017 283           11,565      5,512        5,391        201           7,171        (16,806)     13,317      

Shares issued or issuable in 

the year 39             3,922        (1,633)       - (208)          - - 2,120        

Value of conversion rights - - - 1,733        112           - - 1,845        

Share issue costs - - - - -            - - -            

Loss for the year - - - - -            - (17,939)     (17,939)     

As at 31 December 2018 322           15,487      3,879        7,124        105           7,171        (34,745)     (657)          

Accumulated deficit represents the cumulative losses of the Company attributable to equity shareholders.

The accompanying notes on pages 18 to 55 form part of these financial statements.

Share capital is the amount subscribed for shares at nominal value and share premium is the excess subscribed above nominal

value. Included within share premium are share issue costs which relate to commissions and other directly attributable costs.

Other reserve includes the value of conversion rights associated with convertible notes amounting to £105,000 (2017: £201,000).

Refer to Note 28 for further details.

Unissued capital reserve includes the contingent share consideration associated with the acquisition of Keen Pacific Limited and

its controlled entities on 18 May 2017. Refer to Note 14 for further details. 

Merger relief reserve arises from the 100% acquisition of NQ Minerals Pty Limited (“NQ”) on 25 May 2015 whereby the excess of

the fair value of the issued ordinary share capital issued over the nominal value of these shares was transferred to this reserve in

accordance with section 612 of the Companies Act 2006.

Option reserve includes the value of the share based payments amounting to £1,733,704 (2017: £823,002) in addition to £nil

(2017: £4,336,245) which has been capitalised as transaction costs with financiers. Refer to Note 30 for further details.

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Option 

reserve

Merger 

relief 

reserve

Accum- 

ulated 

deficit

Total 

equity

Unissued 

capital 

reserve

Other 

reserve
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2018 2017

Note

31

Repayment of borrowings (983)        -          

413         

-          

22

Net foreign exchange differences (1,188)                       (103)                          

Net cash flows from investing activities

Payment for property, plant and equipment

(12,210)                     (11,128)                     

(1,609)                       1,329                        

New shares

Cash flows from financing activities

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash 

equivalents

Transaction costs

Net cash flows from financing activities 24,085                      

Payment for exploration expenditure (271)                          (89)                            

Payment for share purchase acquisition, net of cash 

acquired -                            (11,039)                     

(11,939)                     -                            

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

£’000s £’000s

Cash flows from operating activities (13,484)                     (9,547)                       

Cash flows from investing activities

The accompanying notes on pages 18 to 55 form part of these financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents brought forward 3,310                        2,084                        

Cash and cash equivalents carried forward 513                           3,310                        

Non-cash transactions

The Company issued 30,000,000 (2017: 2,953,708) Ordinary shares with a fair value of £2,775,000 (2017: £246,000) to

financiers and consultants in relation to debt funding. Refer to Note 24 for further details.

The Company issued 8,000,000 (2017: 36,000,000) Share Options with a value of £578,898 (2017: £823,002) to two (2017:

three) directors during the 2018 financial year and 8,000,000 Share Options with a value of £729,452 to two key management

personnel. Further details on the Share Options are outlined in Note 30.

During the prior financial year, the Company issued 8,000,000 Ordinary shares with a value of £800,000 to Consultants for

various work during the financial year. Refer to Note 29 for further details.

During the prior financial year, the Company had an obligation to issue 141,671,377 Ordinary shares with a fair value of

£9,501,000 to acquire a subsidiary in a non-cash transaction. This obligation still exists at year end. Refer to Note 14 for

further details.

22,004                      

Increase in borrowings:

Proceeds on issue of shares:

2,655                        

(146)                          

35,130                      

(5,553)                       

(4,950)                       Interest paid 

New borrowings

Transaction costs

24,267                      

(2,366)                       

(2,407)                       

Interest income 28                             -                            
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

1 General information 

2 Basis of preparation 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• FRS 101, 'Reduced disclosure framework'.

2.1

IAS 36, ‘The impairment review';

IAS 2, 'Share-based payments’;

(a) The Company commenced operations at its 100% owned Hellyer Gold Mines in 2018, and in November, 2018 realised its first

revenues from operations. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company realised £3.247M in revenues from contracts. The

Company has been consistently producing concentrates of lead, zinc and pyrite since November 2018 as operations improve to a

steady run rate. On a monthly basis, the Company invoices its selling agent through its offtake arrangements. The gross loss of

£1.967M for the period to 31 December 2018 is a result of operational start-up costs. 

(b) Subsequent to the year end, the Company has secured additional funding via its bond offering memorandum to fund ongoing

working capital requirements. Since 1 January 2019, the Company has raised £5,526,140 and the Directors anticipate being able to

continue to raise funds under this bond at a similar level going forward.

(c) The Company is also in advanced discussions with an existing lender and has entered into non-binding heads of terms, to

restructure its existing debt obligations and anticipates finalising those agreements in the first half of 2019. The proposed

amendments would refinance the current repayment and interest rate profiles.   

(d) The Company proposes to pursue a listing on AIM during the 2020 financial year and will explore further opportunities to raise

equity for working capital and debt restructuring purposes.

(e) Subsequent to the year end, the debt cap of the Group has been breached. The directors have advised all of the lenders of this

breach. As a result of this breach the Company is also technically in default under the facility agreement with Audley, however,

Audley have provided their written confirmation of their agreement to extend the debt cap. However, the increase in the debt cap is

only effective upon receipt of agreement to it from all parties to that agreement.  

The consolidated financial statements of NQ Minerals Plc (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group") for the year

ended 31 December 2018 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 30 May 2018.

IAS 7, ‘Statement of Cash Flows’;

Requirements of IAS 24, ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to disclose related party transactions entered into between two or 

more members of a group;

Going concern

The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal business activity

and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business. The Consolidated Entity has incurred

net losses after tax of £25.848M (31 Dec 2017: £17.196M), and experienced net cash outflows from operations of £13.484M (31 Dec

2017: £9.650M) and net cash outflows from investing activities of £12.210M (31 Dec 2017: £11.128M) for the year ended 31

December 2018. As at 31 December 2018, the Consolidated Entity had a deficiency of current assets to current liabilities of

£14.013M (31 Dec 2017: £2.783M) and cash assets of £513K (31 Dec 17: £3.310M). These conditions indicate a material

uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Consolidated Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.

NQ Minerals Plc (“Company”) is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales with company number

09540926 and quoted on the NEX Growth Market. Details of the registered office, the officers and advisers to the Company are

presented on the Company information page.

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared using the historical cost convention, on a going concern basis and in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and IFRS Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC") Interpretations

as adopted by the European Union and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS, using accounting

policies which are set out below and which have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements of the parent company have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced

Disclosure Framework” (‘FRS 101’) and the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The Company will continue to prepare its

financial statements in accordance with FRS 101 on an ongoing basis until such time as it notifies shareholders of any change to its

chosen accounting framework. 

The Group and Company financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost convention except where other

measurement bases are required to be applied and in accordance with IFRS under FRS 101. In accordance with FRS 101, the

Company has taken advantage of the following exemptions:

The Directors have considered the following in making their assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern:

The ability of the Consolidated Entity to continue as a going concern and pay its debts as and when they fall due, given the

Consolidated Entity’s intended operational plans is dependent upon the Company’s ability to secure new debt and/or equity in order

to meet the Group’s debt repayments as they fall due. The Group has debt repayments of £14,417,140 due in the next 12 months

this includes a AUS$4,000,000 loan which according to the latest loan documentation is due for repayment in full on 5 June 2019.

The Company has received, via an intermediary, confirmation that this repayment date has been extended by 1 month to 5 July

2019, however no formal documentation has been received to confirm this from the financiers themselves. The Group is reliant on

securing new debt and/or equity in order to meet these repayments. The Group is also reliant on the continuing support of its current

financiers.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

2 Basis of preparation (cont.) 

2.1

2.2 Preparation of financial statements

2.3 Standards and interpretations effective in the current year 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Overall impact

Other impacts

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The directors are of the opinion that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate as they are confident in the

ability of the Consolidated Entity to be successful in securing additional funds through debt or equity issues. Notwithstanding this, as

a junior producer with a dependency on continued support from current financiers and on securing additional funding, should the

Consolidated Entity be unable to secure sufficient funding from the above or the continued support of current financiers, the Group

would be unable to continue trading as a going concern. In which case the Consolidated Entity would be required to realise its assets

and discharge its liabilities other than in the normal course of business and at amounts different to those stated in the financial

statements.

IFRS 15 requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances when applying

each step of the model to contracts with their customers. The standard also specifies the accounting for the incremental costs of

obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. In addition, the standard requires enhanced and extensive

disclosures about revenue to help investors better understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows

from contracts with customers. 

The Group applied IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 for the first time from 1 January 2018. The nature and effect of these changes as a result of

the adoption of these new standards are described below. Other than the changes described below, the accounting policies adopted

are consistent with those of the previous financial year. Several other amendments and interpretations applied for the first time in

2018, but did not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group or the financial statements of the parent

company and, hence, have not been disclosed. The Group has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments that

have been issued but are not yet effective.  

The Group’s revenue from contracts with customers comprises three main streams being the sale of lead concentrate, zinc

concentrate and pyrite. The Group undertook a comprehensive analysis of the impact of the new revenue standard based on a

review of the contractual terms of its principal revenue streams with the primary focus being to understand whether the timing and

amount of revenue recognised could differ under IFRS 15. For all of the Group’s revenue streams, the nature and timing of

satisfaction of the performance obligations, and, hence, the amount and timing of revenue recognised under IFRS 15, is the same as

that under IAS 18. The Group adopted IFRS 15 using the full retrospective method of adoption, however no restatement of

comparative information is required due to no prior period revenue from contracts with customers. 

IFRS 15 and its related amendments supersede IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and related Interpretations. It

applies to all revenue arising from contracts with its customers and became effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2018. IFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. It requires

revenue to be recognised when (or as) control of a good or service transfers to a customer at an amount that reflects the

consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. 

The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of asset carrying amounts or

the amount of liabilities that might result should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern and meet its debts as and when

they fall due. Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise its assets and extinguish its

liabilities other than in the normal course of business and at amounts different from those stated in the financial report. The financial

report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts nor to the

amounts and classification of liabilities that may be necessary should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS and FRS 101 requires the use of certain critical accounting

estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The

areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the

financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

The change did not have a material impact on other comprehensive income for the year. There was no net impact on the statement

of cash flows. There was no impact on EPS.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods beginning on

or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: classification and

measurement; impairment; and hedge accounting.

Under IFRS 9, there is a change in the classification and measurement requirements relating to financial assets. Previously, there

were four categories of financial assets: loans and receivables, fair value through profit or loss, held to maturity and available for

sale. Under IFRS 9, financial assets are either classified as amortised cost, fair value through profit or loss or fair value through other

comprehensive income. 

Going concern (cont.)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

2 Basis of preparation (cont.) 

2.3 Standards and interpretations effective in the current year (cont.)

Overall impact

Other impacts

New standards and interpretations 

Reference

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

3

3.1

IFRS 16 requires lessees to account for all leases, specifically

leases over warehouse facilities for the Group, under a single on-

balance sheet model in a similar way to finance leases under

IFRS 16 Leases. The standard includes two recognition

exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g.,

personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a

lease term of 12 months or less). At the commencement date of

a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease

payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the

right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the

right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately

recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the

depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will be

required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of

certain events (e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in

future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or

rate used to determine those payments). The lessee will

generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the

lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor

accounting is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting

under IFRS 16. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using

the same classification principle as in IFRS 16 and distinguish

between two types of leases: operating and finance leases.

The following principal accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in

relation to the financial information.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of NQ Minerals Plc and its subsidiaries as at 31 December

2018. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns

from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 

The Group has applied IFRS 9 retrospectively, with the initial application date of 1 January 2018, however no restatement of

comparative information is required. The assessment of the Group’s business model was made as of the date of initial application, 1

January 2018, and then applied retrospectively to those financial assets that were not derecognised before 1 January 2018. The

assessment of whether contractual cash flows on debt instruments are SPPI was made based on the facts and circumstances as at

the initial recognition of the assets. There are no expected credit losses which have been recorded in the financial statements as

management are confident that the full value of the trade receivables will be collected. There was also no impact on hedging as the

Group does not apply hedge accounting. 

Title Application Date

Accounting policies

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of this standard will have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group. 

For debt instruments, the classification is based on two criteria: the Group’s business model for managing the assets; and whether

the instruments’ contractual cash flows represent ‘solely payments of principal and interest’ (SPPI) on the principal amount

outstanding. A financial asset can only be measured at amortised cost if both of the following are satisfied:
•  Business model: the objective of the business model is to hold the financial asset for the collection of the contractual cash flows; 

•  Contractual cash flows: the contractual cash flows under the instrument relate solely to payments of principal and interest.

The change did not have a material impact on other comprehensive income for the year. There was no net impact on the statement

of cash flows. There was no impact on EPS.

As of the date of approval of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been applied in

these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective: 

Summary
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

3

3.1

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred

Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries without change of control

Disposal in subsidiaries

Group reorganisation accounting

3.2

3.3 Foreign currencies

Items included in the individual financial statements of group companies are measured using the currency of the primary economic

environment in which each entity operates (the functional currency), which are mainly in Pounds Sterling (£) and Australian Dollars

(AUD). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling (£), which is the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at

the reporting date. All differences are taken to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Non-monetary items

that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial

transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date

when the fair value was determined.

The Company acquired its 100% interest in NQ Minerals Pty Limited (“NQ Pty”) in the 2015 financial year on 25 May 2015 by way of

a share for share exchange. This was a business combination involving entities under common control and the consolidated financial

statements are issued in the name of the Group but they are a continuance of those of NQ Pty. Therefore, the assets and liabilities of

NQ Pty have been recognised and measured in these consolidated financial statements at their pre-combination carrying values.

The retained earnings and other equity balances recognised in these consolidated financial statements are the retained earnings and

other equity balances of the Company and NQ Pty. The equity structure appearing in these consolidated financial statements (the

number and the type of equity instruments issued) reflect the equity structure of the Company including equity instruments issued by

the Company to affect the consolidation. The difference between consideration given and net assets of NQ Pty at the date of

acquisition is included in a group reorganisation reserve.  

Functional and presentation currency

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised

losses are also eliminated. When necessary amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s

accounting policies.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions – that is, as

transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the

relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to

non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Accounting policies (cont.)

When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date when control is

lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of

subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously 

recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the

related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to

profit or loss.

Consolidation (cont.)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.

The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating

segments, has been identified as the board of directors that makes strategic decisions.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of

a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity

interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent

consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination

are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on

an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised

amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes

to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with IFRS 9

either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-

measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest

in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are

recognised in profit or loss.

Subsidiaries
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3.3 Foreign currencies (cont.)

(a)

(b) 

(c)

3.4 Sales tax

3.5 Revenue

3.6

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets

The Group continued measuring at fair value through profit and loss all financial assets previously held at fair value through profit

and loss under IAS 39.

income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not

a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case

income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings,

are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded

in equity are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign

entity and translated at the closing rate.

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax, except:

• When the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case, the

sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable; and

• When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a

functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of

that statement of financial position;

The value of consideration is its fair value which equates to the contractually agreed price. The offtake agreements provide for

provisional pricing meaning that the selling price is subject to final adjustment at the end of the quotation period based on the

average price for the month following delivery to the buyer. The value of the consideration is therefore based on the provisional

pricing using the best estimates when the materials are delivered to the agreed transfer location. Revisions based on final pricing are

remeasured on final payment date (being when the final On Sale Price is determined) and also where an outstanding contract may

cross reporting dates. This variable consideration is only included in the transaction price if, and to the extent that, it is highly

probable that its inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty has been subsequently

resolved. The variable consideration under the offtake agreements relates primarily to the final commodity price in US$/DMT. These

variables are obtained from the free quoted market and are the best estimates at the time of revaluation.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in

the statement of financial position.

Accounting policies (cont.)

The Group is principally engaged in the business of producing lead, zinc and pyrite concentrate. Revenue from contracts with

customers is recognised when control of the goods is transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to

which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods. The Group has concluded that it is the principal in its revenue

contracts because it typically controls the goods before transferring them to the offtaker. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable from sales of concentrates to an end user, net of any

buyers discount, treatment charges, freight costs and value added tax. The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue

can be reliably measured and when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity. 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into pounds at the rate of exchange prevailing at the

reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The

exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in OCI. On disposal of a foreign operation, the

component of OCI relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified in profit or loss.

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through OCI, or fair

value through profit or loss. The classification of financial assets at initial recognition that are debt instruments depends on the

financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of

trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient,

the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or

loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied

the practical expedient for contracts that have a maturity of one year or less, are measured at the transaction price determined under

IFRS 15. Refer to the revenue recognition accounting policy in Note 3.5.
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3.6

Subsequent Measurement

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Impairment

For trade receivables (not subject to provisional pricing) and other receivables due in less than 12 months, the Group applies the

simplified approach in calculating Expected Credit Losses ("ECL's"), as permitted by IFRS 9. Therefore, the Group does not track

changes in credit risk, but instead, recognises a loss allowance based on the financial asset’s lifetime ECL at each reporting date.

For any other financial assets carried at amortised cost (which are due in more than 12 months), the ECL is based on the 12-month

ECL. The 12-month ECL is the proportion of lifetime ECLs that results from default events on a financial instrument that are possible

within 12 months after the reporting date. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the

allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL. When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly

since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and

available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s

historical experience and informed credit assessment including forward-looking information.

Financial assets (cont.)

This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following

conditions are met:  

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash

flows; and 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) method and are subject to

impairment. Interest received is recognised as part of finance income in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include trade receivables (not subject to provisional pricing), other receivables and

receivables from joint arrangements. Refer below to ‘Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ for a discussion of trade

receivables (subject to provisional pricing).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, e.g., derivative instruments, financial

assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, e.g., debt or equity instruments, or financial assets

mandatorily required to be measured at fair value, i.e., where they fail the SPPI test. Financial assets are classified as held for

trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded

derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with

cash flows that do not pass the SPPI test are required to be classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective

of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through

OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so

eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in

fair value recognised in profit or loss.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract with a financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for

as a separate derivative if: the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the

same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair

value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would

otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category. 

As IFRS 9 now has the SPPI test for financial assets, the requirements relating to the separation of embedded derivatives is no

longer needed for financial assets. An embedded derivative will often make a financial asset fail the SPPI test thereby requiring the

instrument to be measured at fair value through profit or loss in its entirety. This is applicable to the Group’s trade receivables

(subject to provisional pricing). These receivables relate to sales contracts where the selling price is determined after delivery to the

customer, based on the market price at the relevant Quotational Period (QP) stipulated in the contract. This exposure to the

commodity price causes such trade receivables to fail the SPPI test. As a result, these receivables are measured at fair value

through profit or loss from the date of recognition of the corresponding sale, with subsequent movements being recognised in ‘fair

value gains/losses on provisionally priced trade receivables’ in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Accounting policies (cont.)

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories: 

• Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments); 

• Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments); 

• Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity 

instruments); 

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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3.6

Derecognition

3.7

3.8 Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Loans and borrowings and trade and other payables

Derecognition

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may

also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the

outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is

written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows and usually occurs when past due for

more than one year and not subject to enforcement activity.

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings and trade and other

payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the Effective Interest Rate ("EIR") method. Gains and losses are

recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as

through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition

and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income.

A financial liability is derecognised when the associated obligation is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial

liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are

substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of

a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial assets (cont.)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and on hand and short term deposits with an

original maturity of three months or less, but exclude any restricted cash. Restricted cash is not available for use by the Group and

therefore is not considered highly liquid — for example, cash set aside to cover rehabilitation obligations. For the purpose of the

consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as defined above, net of

outstanding bank overdrafts. 

A financial asset (or, when applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when

either:

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash

flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ’pass-through’ arrangement and either: 

(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or 

(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred control of

the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it

evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained

substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the

transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.

The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has

retained.

Accounting policies (cont.)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at

FVTPL. The Group has not designated any financial liability as at FVTPL. Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they

are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the

Group that are not designated as hedging instruments as defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as

held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are

recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,

trade and other payables or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. All financial

liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of interest-bearing loans and borrowings and trade and other payables,

net of directly attributable transaction costs. The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, interest-bearing loans

and borrowings including bank overdrafts, and derivative financial instruments.

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as described below.
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3.8 Financial liabilities (cont.)

3.9

3.10

3.11 Property, plant and equipment

Mineral assets: development and production

Development and production (“D&P”) assets are accumulated on a field by field basis and represent the cost of developing the

commercial reserves discovered and bringing them into production, together with the exploration and evaluation (“E&E”)

expenditures incurred in finding commercial reserves transferred from intangible E&E assets as outlined above. The carrying values

of producing assets are depreciated using the unit of production method based on entitlement to provide by reference to the ratio of

production in the period to the related commercial reserves, taking into account any estimated future development expenditures

necessary to bring additional non producing reserves into production. 

An impairment test is performed for D&P assets whenever events and circumstances arise that indicate that the carrying value of

development or production phase assets may exceed its recoverable amount. The aggregate carrying value is compared against the

expected recoverable amount of each well, generally by reference to the present value of the future net cash flows expected to be

derived from production of commercial reserves. 

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if

there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure in relation to separate areas of interest for which rights of tenure are current is carried

forward as an asset in the statement of financial position where it is expected that the expenditure will be recovered through the

successful development and exploitation of an area of interest, or by its sale; or exploration activities are continuing in an area and

activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable estimate of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable

reserves. Where a project or an area of interest has been abandoned, the expenditure incurred thereon is written off in the year in

which the decision is made.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are

subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial

liabilities when the fair value is negative. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly to

the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Borrowing costs

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from

suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one period or less. If not, they are presented

as non-current liabilities.

All lease and licence acquisition costs, geological and geophysical costs and other direct costs of exploration, evaluation and

development are capitalised as intangible or property, plant and equipment according to their nature. Intangible assets comprise

costs relating to the exploration and evaluation of properties which the Directors consider to be unevaluated until reserves are

appraised as commercial, at which time they are transferred to tangible assets as ‘Developed mineral assets’ following an

impairment review and depreciated accordingly. Where properties are appraised to have no commercial value, the associated costs

are treated as an impairment loss in the period in which the determination is made. 

Intangible assets

Mineral assets: deferred exploration and evaluation

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial

period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale (a qualifying asset) are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective asset.

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Where funds are

borrowed specifically to finance a project, the amount capitalised represents the actual borrowing costs incurred. Where surplus

funds are available for a short term from funds borrowed specifically to finance a project, the income generated from the temporary

investment of such amounts is also capitalised and deducted from the total capitalised borrowing cost. Where the funds are used to

finance a project form part of general borrowings, the amount capitalised is calculated using a weighted average of rates applicable

to relevant general borrowings of the Group during the period. All other borrowing costs are recognised in the statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred. Even though exploration and evaluation assets can

be qualifying assets, they generally do not meet the ’probable economic benefits’ test and also are rarely debt funded. Any related

borrowing costs incurred during this phase are therefore generally recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income in the period they are incurred.

Impairment of mineral assets: deferred exploration and evaluation

An impairment test is performed for deferred exploration and evaluation assets whenever events and circumstances arise that

indicate that the carrying value of deferred exploration and evaluation assets may exceed its recoverable amount. The aggregate

carrying value is compared against the expected recoverable amount.

Accounting policies (cont.)
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3.11

Buildings 10 years

3.12 Inventory

Tailings

Warehouse 

3.13

3.14

Accounting policies (cont.)

Provision for rehabilitation

Mine rehabilitation costs will be incurred by the Group either while operating, or at the end of the operating life of, the Group’s

facilities and mine properties. The Group assesses its mine rehabilitation provision at each reporting date. The Group recognises a

rehabilitation provision where it has a legal and constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it is probable that an outflow of

resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made. The nature of

these restoration activities includes: dismantling and removing structures; rehabilitating mines and tailings dams; dismantling

operating facilities; closing plant and waste sites; and restoring, reclaiming and revegetating affected areas.

Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in present value based on the discount rates that reflect current market

assessments and the risks specific to the liability. The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised in the statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income as part of finance costs.

Changes in the estimated timing of rehabilitation or changes to the estimated future costs are dealt with prospectively by recognising

an adjustment to the rehabilitation liability and a corresponding adjustment to the asset to which it relates, if the initial estimate was

originally recognised as part of an asset measured in accordance with IAS 16.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost that is directly

attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by

management. Cost also includes borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a

qualifying asset.

Non-mineral assets

Major maintenance and repairs

Property, plant and equipment (cont.)

Expenditure on major maintenance refits or repairs comprises the cost of replacement assets or parts of assets and overhaul costs.

Where an asset, or part of an asset, that was separately depreciated and is now written off is replaced, and it is probable that future

economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group through an extended life, the expenditure is capitalised. Where part

of the asset was not separately considered as a component and therefore not depreciated separately, the replacement value is used

to estimate the carrying amount of the replaced asset(s) which is immediately written off. All other day-to-day maintenance and

repairs costs are expensed as incurred. 

Depreciation of PPE

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a units of production (UOP) basis over the economically recoverable reserves of the

mine concerned, except in the case of assets whose useful life is shorter than the life of the mine, in which case, the straight-line

method over their estimated useful lives is used, as follows:

All other items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Any reduction in the rehabilitation liability and, therefore, any deduction from the asset to which it relates, may not exceed the

carrying amount of that asset. If it does, any excess over the carrying value is taken immediately to the statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.

If the change in estimate results in an increase in the rehabilitation liability and, therefore, an addition to the carrying value of the

asset, the Group considers whether this is an indication of impairment of the asset as a whole, and if so, tests for impairment. If, for

mature mines, the estimate for the revised mine assets net of rehabilitation provisions exceeds the recoverable value, that portion of

the increase is charged directly to expense.

Inventory consists of existing tailings and was recorded at fair value on initial acquisition in accordance with the purchase price

allocations in Notes 14 and 16. Upon commercial production, inventory forms part of cost of goods sold based on UOP. 

Plant and Equipment 5 to 10 years

Warehouse inventories cost comprises direct purchase costs of consumables. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net

realisable value. Any provision for obsolescence is determined by reference to specific items of stock. A regular review is undertaken

to determine the extent of any provision for obsolescence.

Components of costs

Investments in subsidiaries 

Investments are held as non-current assets at cost less any provision for impairment. Where the recoverable amount of the

investment is less than the carrying amount, impairment is recognised.
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3.15

3.16 Leases

3.17

3.18 Share-based payments

3.19 Fair value measurement

Income tax

• Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that

is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit

(tax loss); and

• In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in

joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled by the parent, investor or

venturer and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

• Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither

the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in 

joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences

will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available, against which the temporary differences can

be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no

longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has

become probable that future taxable profit will be available to allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risk and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating

leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement 

on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Current income tax which is payable on taxable profits is recognised as an expense in the period in which the profits arise. The tax

rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the

countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities

and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax credits and any unused

tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and

the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

•  In the principal market for the asset or liability; or

•  in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are

shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Directors and key consultants of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby services are

rendered as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled transactions). The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined

by the fair value at the date when the transaction is entered into with reference to the underlying equity instrument.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an appropriate

valuation model, further details of which are given in Note 30. That cost is recognised in employee benefits expense, together with a

corresponding increase in equity (option reserve), over the period in which the service and, where applicable, the performance

conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date

until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of

equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The expense or credit in the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the

movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. 

The Group measures financial instruments such as derivatives, and non-financial assets acquired as part of business combinations,

such as inventory and plant and equipment, at fair value at each balance sheet date or at date of acquisition, as appropriate. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market

participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset

or transfer the liability takes place either:
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3 Accounting policies (cont.)

3.19 Fair value measurement (cont.)

3.20

4

The Group applies judgement in how it applies its accounting policies, which do not involve estimation, but could materially affect the

numbers disclosed in these financial statements. The key judgements, without estimation, that have been applied in these financial

statements are as follows: 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable

that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be

made of the amount of the obligation. When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an

insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The

expense relating to a provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when

appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is

recognised as a finance cost. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value

hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset

or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by

using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and

best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available to measure

fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

•  Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is

directly or indirectly observable;

• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is

unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines

whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that

is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. There have been no transfers between

hierarchies during the period. The Directors determine the policies and procedures for fair value measurements. External valuers are

involved for valuation of significant assets or where additional expertise is required. 

Provisions

The group's policy for its provision for rehabilitation is detailed in Note 3.13.

Sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions

that affect the reported amounts of expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of

contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment

to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are

also described in the individual notes of the related financial statement line items below. The Group based its assumptions and

estimates on parameters available when the Group and Company financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and

assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the

control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 
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4

4.1 Significant judgements

Sources of estimation uncertainty (cont.)

The directors' assessment of the

recoverability of related party

receivables directly impacts the

carrying value in the financial

statements at reporting date. 

The directors' assessment of

recoverability is based on the

financial position of the related party

and their ability to access resources

sufficient to repay the receivables. 

If the Group has

determined that these

receivables are not

recoverable the value

would be £nil.

A reduction of £268,000 in

receivables.

Estimate on measurement of tailing consumption

Estimate on the measurement and

consumption of the tailings

consumption is in accordance with the

CSA Global, Competent Persons

Report (CPR) and the associated

mining plan which is based on the best

estimates of information available at

year end. 

Recoverability of related party receivables

The estimate of tailings

measurement and consumption

impacts the rate of depreciation of

property, plant and equipment along

with the utilisation of the tailings

inventory on the units of production

basis. It also impacts the working

capital estimates utilised as part of

the directors assessment of the

Group’s going concern.  

If the estimate varies, this

will have an impact on the

Group’s depreciation, cost

of sales and going concern

assumption. 

Not quantified. 

Judgement is required to determine

whether deferred tax assets are

recognised in the statement of financial

position. Deferred tax assets, including

those arising from unutilised tax losses,

require the Group to assess the

likelihood that the Group will generate

sufficient taxable earnings in future

periods, in order to utilise recognised

deferred tax assets. 

Judgement is also required to

determine which arrangements are

considered to be a tax on income as

opposed to an operating cost. 

Judgement is also required in respect

of the application of existing tax laws in

each jurisdiction.                                                

In

addition, future changes in tax laws in

the jurisdictions in which the Group

operates could limit the ability of the

Group to obtain tax deductions in future

periods.

The Group has tax losses, and

other deductible temporary

differences, mainly in Australian,

and United Kingdom taxable

entities, that have the potential to

reduce tax payments in future

years. Deferred tax assets have

been recognised to the extent that

their recovery is probable, having

regard to the availability of sufficient

taxable temporary differences

relating to the same taxation

authority and the same taxable

entity, the estimates of projected

future taxable income of these

taxable entities and after taking

account of specific risk factors that

are expected to affect the recovery

of these assets including risk of

expiry of losses. As there is a

history of tax losses within the

Group, there is not compelling

evidence to substantiate the

recognition of deferred tax assets in

the financial statements.

Additionally, the acquisition of the

Keen Pacific Group during the prior

financial year has required detailed

assessments by management as to

whether carry forward losses at the

time of acquisition are available to

continue to be carried forward. 

Management are still continuing

their determination on this as at the

date of this report and as such have

determined to exclude them from

the disclosures in the financial

statements. 

Key judgements Effect on financial statements Effect of that alternative 

accounting judgement

Deferred tax assets

If the Group has

determined that the

utilisation of these losses

were more certain then full

recognition would have

taken place. 

Recognition of potential

assets of £5.6m relating to

unutilised tax losses of

£29.4m

Alternative accounting 

judgement that could 

have been applied
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4.1 Significant judgements (cont.)

Cessation of capitalisation

of exploration and

evaluation expenditure

and, or, impairment of

£1,218,000 capitalised to

31 December 2018.

Exploration is still

continuing and therefore

no alternative classification

exists. 

The estimates directly impact when

the Group defers E&E expenditure.

The deferral policy requires

management to make certain

estimates and assumptions about

future events and circumstances,

particularly, whether an

economically viable extraction

operation can be established. 

Any such estimates and

assumptions may change as new

information becomes available. If,

after expenditure is capitalised,

information becomes available

suggesting that the recovery of

expenditure is unlikely, the relevant

capitalised amount is written off to

the statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income in the

period when the new information

becomes available.

The Group assesses the stage of each

mine under development and

construction to determine when a mine

moves into the production phase, this

being when the mine is substantially

complete and ready for its intended

use. 

The criteria used to assess the start

date are determined based on the

unique nature of each mine

development/construction project, such

as the complexity of the project and its

location. 

The Group considers various

relevant criteria to assess when the

production phase is considered to

have commenced.

As the areas of interest under the

exploration permits are currently still

being explored, no re-classification

of the assets has occurred at 31

December 2018. 

Effect of that alternative 

accounting judgement

Not quantified. 

The application of the Group’s

accounting policy for E&E expenditure

requires judgement to determine

whether future economic benefits are

likely from either future exploitation or

sale, or whether activities have not

reached a stage that permits a

reasonable assessment of the

existence of reserves.

In addition to applying judgement to

determine whether future economic

benefits are likely to arise from the

Group’s E&E assets or whether

activities have not reached a stage that

permits a reasonable assessment of

the existence of reserves, the Group

has to apply a number of estimates and

assumptions. 

The determination of a JORC resource

is itself an estimation process that

involves varying degrees of uncertainty

depending on how the resources are

classified (i.e., measured, indicated or

inferred). 

The functional currency for the parent

entity and each of its subsidiaries, is the

currency of the primary economic

environment in which the entity

operates. 

The functional currency of the

entitles in the Group is Pounds

Sterling or Australian Dollars. 

Determination of functional currency

involves judgements to identify the

primary economic environment and

the parent entity reconsiders the

functional currency of its entities if

there is a change in events and

conditions which determined the

primary economic environment.

Sources of estimation uncertainty (cont.)

Key judgements Effect on financial statements

Exploration and evaluation

If the Group had

determined that there are

no future economic

benefits from the further

exploitation of the

exploration permits, then

capitalisation of

expenditures would have

ceased and, or,

expenditures capitalised to

date would be fully written

off. 

Alternative accounting 

judgement that could 

have been applied

Production start date

Functional currency

The Group could have

determined different

functional currencies of

each entity within the

Group. 

Foreign currency

transactions and

consolidation into

presentational currency

reporting would have

resulted in a different

amount of foreign

currency gains or losses

recognised. 
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4.2 Significant estimates

Potential 

impact 

within the 

next 

financial 

year

Potential 

impact in 

the longer 

term

Note 

reference

Impairment of inventories and property, plant and equipment of

the Hellyer mine site is subject to significant estimation, due to

the complexity of the accounting requirements and the significant

judgement required in determining the assumptions to be used

to estimate the recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is based on the higher of the value in

use or fair value less costs to sell, has been derived from

discounted forecast cash flow models. These models use

several key assumptions, including estimates of future sales

volumes, and prices, operating costs, terminal value and the

weighted-average cost of capital (discount rate).

� �Impairment of inventories 

and property, plant and 

equipment 

Sources of estimation uncertainty (cont.)

14�

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with adopted IFRSs requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and

expenses during the reporting year. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, events

or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 

on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to

accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the

period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The directors consider the following to

be the key estimates applicable to the financial statements, which have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year or in the long term.

Key estimate area Key assumption

Fair value of consideration 

on acquisition

On 18 May 2017, the Company acquired all of the issued and

outstanding shares in Keen Pacific Limited, along with its wholly-

owned subsidiaries Ivy Resources Pty Ltd and Hellyer Gold

Mines Pty Ltd ("Keen Pacific Limited Group"). The Company

acquired the Keen Pacific Limited Group for an estimated fair

value consideration of £20,796,000, which includes the issue of

141,671,377 shares in the Company to the vendors. Included in

the consideration paid or payable in shares of the Company is an

amount of £3,878,841 which reflects 65,021,012 contingent

shares in the Company which are only issuable on the exercise

of underlying dilutive outstanding financing options and

convertible notes which have conversion periods ranging to June

2022. 

The accounting for this transaction is complex due to the

significant judgements and estimates that are required to

determine the values of the consideration transferred and the

identification and measurement of the fair value of the assets

acquired and liabilities assumed. The fair value of the

consideration paid and the value of assets and liabilities

acquired, was determined through an independent valuation

performed by a valuer with appropriate skill and experience. The

inputs are outlined in detail in the note reference. 

Impairment of investments 

in subsidiaries

The Directors have reviewed the carrying amount of investments

and have not identified any indicators of impairment. The main

investment has resulted from the acquisition of Keen Pacific

Limited as outlined in the note reference.  

�

� � 14

16, 17
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4.2 Significant estimates (cont.)

Potential 

impact 

within the 

next 

financial 

year

Potential 

impact in 

the longer 

term

Note 

reference

17

�

Provision for rehabilitation Provision is made for close-down, restoration and environmental

costs when the obligation occurs, based on the net present value

of estimated future costs with, where appropriate, probability

weighting of the different remediation and closure scenarios. 

The ultimate cost of closedown and restoration is uncertain, and

management uses its judgment and experience to determine the

potential scope of rehabilitation work required and to provide for

the costs associated with that work. Adjustments are made to

provisions when the range of possible outcomes becomes

sufficiently narrow to permit reliable estimation. 

Cost estimates can vary in response to many factors including:

changes to the relevant legal or local/national government

ownership requirements and any other commitments made to

stakeholders; review of remediation and relinquishment options;

the emergence of new restoration techniques and the effects of

inflation. External experts support the cost estimation process. 

If the cost estimates and the discounting estimates were to differ

this could lead to a material change in the provision. The inputs

are outlined in the note reference.

Depreciation and 

amortisation charges

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related

depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. The

useful life has been determined to be in-line with the life of the

mine, on a monthly production basis. This useful lives could

change significantly as a result of changes in the resource,

technical innovations or some other event. 

The depreciation charge will increase where the useful lives are

less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or

non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be

written off or written down.

In connection with debt funding agreements, the Group has a

requirement to credit various financier amounts in connection

with gold and silver streaming agreements entered into. 

The derivative financial instrument has been valued based on

expected future gold and silver sales for the life of the current

project which requires management to make certain estimates

on production annual volumes, gold and silver payability

contained and forecast sales prices. If the estimates on these

inputs were to differ, this could lead to a material change to the

value of the derivative. 

In addition the Weighted Average Cost of Capital ("WACC") of

the Group has been applied to the forecasts in determining the

discount rate. A change in the Group's WACC could also result

in a material change.

The inputs are outlined in the note reference. 

Key estimate area Key assumption

� �

Sources of estimation uncertainty (cont.)

Embedded derivatives �

��

24

25
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4.2 Significant estimates (cont.)

Potential 

impact 

within the 

next 

financial 

year

Potential 

impact in 

the longer 

term

Note 

reference

5 Segmental disclosure

The board of directors monitor the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about

resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is

measured consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. However, the Group’s financing

(including finance costs and finance income) and income taxes are managed on a Group basis and are not allocated to operating

segments.

��

Share based options

Sources of estimation uncertainty (cont.)

Provision for impairment of 

receivables

The assessment of the provision for impairment of receivables,

including receivables from the subsidiaries in the parent's

accounts requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The

level of provision is assessed by taking into account the ageing

of receivables, historical collection rates and specific knowledge

of the individual debtor's financial position.

Exploration and evaluation 

expenditure

30

� �

All share based options are settled in the form of equity issued

and are measured at fair value. The fair value of the equity

settled transactions have been determined by the directors

utilising the binomial option-pricing model. A change in the inputs

to this model could lead to a material change to the value of the

share based options.

�

The Group's primary operations are its exploration assets located in Queensland, Australia, and its tailings assets located in

Tasmania, Australia. For management purposes, the Group is organised into these two business units and as such have been

reported as the separate segments below: 

21

Impairment of exploration and evaluation expenditure of the

Queensland site is subject to significant estimation, due to the

complexity of the accounting requirements and the significant

judgement required in determining the assumptions to be used

to estimate the recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is based on the higher of the value in

use or fair value less costs to sell, has been derived from

discounted forecast cash flow models. These models use

several key assumptions, including estimates of future sales

volumes, and prices, operating costs, terminal value and the

weighted-average cost of capital (discount rate).

If, after expenditure is capitalised, information becomes available

suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the

amount capitalised is written off in profit and loss in the period

when the new information becomes available. As at 31

December 2018, no such information is available to suggest that

the expenditure is not recoverable.

15

Key estimate area

�

• The exploration areas segment which undertakes exploration and evaluation activities in Queensland, Australia; and

• The tailings facility segment which undertakes tailings reprocessing activities in Tasmania, Australia. 

The Group’s assets and operations are located in Tasmania and Queensland, Australia. For management purposes, the Group is

organised into business units based on the main types of activities and has two reportable operating segments, as follows:

Key assumption

The accounting policies used by the Group in reporting segments internally are the same as those contained in Note 3 and the

respective quantitative and qualitative notes of the financial statements.
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